IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MONTANA

Docket No. DA 25-0795

PRESTON BULL,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

JACQUELINE BULL,

Respondent/Appellee

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court in Missoula
The Honorable Judge Shane Vannatta Presiding

APPEARANCES:

MISTY D. GAUBATZ
A&M LAW
319 W. Pine Street, Suite 2
Missoula, MT 59802
Misty@MyMontanaLawyer.com

Attorney for Petitioner

BRANDI R. RIES
EMILY A. LUCAS
Ries Law Group, P.C.
P.O. Box 8364
Missoula, MT 59807
brandi@rieslawgroupcc.com

Attorney for Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The District Court erred by issuing a final parenting plan that delegated responsibility for parenting time decisions to the minor children.
2. The District Court erred by issuing a final parenting plan that requires the Father to pay unlimited and unspecified amounts above and beyond the child support and medical support obligations at the Mother's sole discretion.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case comes on appeal following a trial before the Missoula County District Court regarding the dissolution of the parties' marriage and a final parenting plan for their three minor children. Following that trial, the district court adopted the Appellee's proposed final parenting plan in full. That plan contained provisions that are contrary to Montana law, and this Honorable Court should reverse those provisions. Specifically, this Court should reverse the provision allowing the minor children's wishes to be the deciding factor in the Father's parenting time, and it should also reverse the provision that requires the Father to be financially responsible for unspecified and

discretionary amounts above and beyond child support and medical support obligations.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner/Appellant Preston Bull (Preston or Father) and Respondent/Appellee Jacqueline Bull (Jackie or Mother) are parties to a dissolution of marriage and parenting plan action originally filed in the Missoula County District Court. Trial was held on May 13 and 14, 2025, regarding all issues, and the Court heard testimony from both parties, as well as witnesses for both parties, and reviewed exhibits presented by both parties. [Doc. 159, p. 1.]

Following trial, the district court issued a Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decree of Dissolution (Decree) disposing of all issues. [Doc. 159.] As part of that Decree, the district court adopted in full Jackie's amended proposed parenting plan, which had been filed with the court in March of 2025, a little more than two months prior to the trial. [Doc. 159, p. 11.]

The adopted parenting plan called for the parties' three minor children (ages 6, 9, and 12 at the time of trial) to be able to make the final determination about whether or not they would spend any

parenting time with their father, Preston. [Doc. 134, p. 3.] Specifically, the parenting plan provides that Preston

“shall have the option of exercising supervised parenting time with the children one day every other week for a period of up to 1.5 hours per visit at Planet Kids in Missoula, Montana, or at another supervised visitation facility chosen by Mother.”

The plan further provides that

“Father’s parenting time should be subject to the wishes of the children so that if a child(ren) does not want to attend Father’s parenting time, the child(ren) should not be required to attend.”

Additionally, the plan provides that

“Father’s parenting time with the children could be re-assessed, if Father were to resume his therapeutic work (including individual therapy, parenting consultation and parent coaching) and the professionals involved with the family determine that Father has made therapeutic progress based upon their professional opinions.”

In other words, under this plan, the children bear the sole responsibility of determining whether or not parenting time with their father will occur. The children also bear the sole responsibility of determining whether the father’s parenting time will be re-assessed under the terms of the parenting plan because they can elect not to participate in parenting time with Preston, including the parenting coaching that is a prerequisite for reassessing parenting time. Both of these important,

legal issues are inappropriately left up to the children’s “wishes” by the parenting plan adopted by the district court.

The parenting plan adopted by the district court also provides that Preston shall pay Jackie child support and medical support as determined by the Montana child support guidelines. [Doc. 159, p. 12.] Specifically, Preston was ordered to pay \$822.00 in monthly child support, and 50% of all uncovered medical expenses and health insurance for the children. [Doc. 159, p. 13.] At the time of trial, the children were insured by Montana Healthy Kids at no expense to either parent. Since then, due to Jackie’s high income, the State removed the children from Montana Healthy Kids, and Jackie obtained insurance with a premium of \$1,236.00 for the month of December, 2025, and \$668.66 premium going forward. Under the parenting plan, Preston is responsible for half of these new insurance expenses, and that amount was not included in the child support calculations.

The district court found that Jackie earns more than twice the amount that Preston earns, specifically that she earns \$154,039.00 per year and that he earns \$64,409.09 per year. [*Id.*]

In addition to the child support and medical support, the district

court's plan requires Preston to pay for 50% of the children's extracurricular activities,

“including extra-curricular activity registrations and equipment expenses. Mother shall provide Father (through counsel) with proof of the expense in writing, and Father shall pay his portion of the expense within thirty (30) days of receiving the documentation.” [Doc. 134, p. 7.]

The plan does not place any financial limitations on or guidelines for the extracurricular activity expenses. Instead, it allows Jackie to have sole discretion on the amounts spent on the children's activities without regard to Preston's ability to pay. Jackie is able to choose activities and equipment that meet her financial abilities and make a demand that Preston reimburse her for half of those expenditures within 30 days of her demand.

The court found that Preston earns approximately 35% of the amount that Jackie earns each year. Put another way, Jackie earns approximately 240% of what Preston earns each year. Preston is unable to reasonably pay for these additional, discretionary expenses on top of child support, medical support, medical insurance, and his own financial needs.

No witness testimony or evidence was presented at trial regarding

extracurricular expenses, and neither party made any requests regarding the payment of these expenses.

Preston is appealing the district court's parenting plan and seeks an order from this Honorable Court reversing the decision to allow the children's wishes to determine parenting time and the decision to require Preston to pay discretionary amounts above and beyond his child support and medical support obligations.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court's determination of a parenting plan is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Woener v. Woener*, 2014 MT 134, ¶ 12, 375 Mont. 153, 325 P.3d 1244. A district court abuses its discretion when it acts arbitrarily without employment of conscientious judgment or exceeds the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice. *In re Marriage of Guffin*, 2010 MT 100, ¶ 20, 356 Mont. 218, 232 P.3d 888.

A district court's conclusions and applications of law, including conformance to applicable statutory requirements, are reviewed *de novo* for correctness. *Bessette v. Bessette*, 2019 MT 35, ¶ 13, 394 Mont. 262, 434 P.3d 894.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This district court abused its discretion by adopting a final parenting plan that places parenting time decisions solely on the shoulders of the children, and by requiring the Appellant Father to pay amounts above and beyond his child support and medical support obligations. This Honorable Court should reverse the district court's order that allows the minor children to determine whether or not parenting time will occur. It should also reverse the part of the district court's final parenting plan which requires Preston to pay for financial obligations beyond child support and medical support, in an amount solely determined by Jackie, for expenses about which no evidence or witness testimony was presented at the final hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court abused its discretion by issuing a final parenting plan delegating responsibility for parenting time to the minor children.

a. Appropriate parenting time is a legal conclusion that cannot be left subject to the wishes of minor children.

“While consideration of the child's desires is statutorily required when the child is 14 years old, the ultimate decision is for the court to

make, based upon the evidence, and cannot be delegated to the child.”
In re Marriage of Whyte and Couvillion, 2012 MT 45, ¶ 28, 364 Mont.
29, 272 P.3d 102. “Whether a parenting plan is appropriate is a legal
conclusion that can only be made by a court.” *Id.*

In *Whyte*, the mother moved the district court for an amended
parenting plan seeking to have the parties’ 11-year-old child reside
primarily with her rather than primarily with the father. *Id.* ¶ 6. The
district court held a hearing, and ultimately issued an amended
parenting plan that required the child “to notify both his parents
whether he wants to continue or whether he’d like to reverse the living
arrangements.” *Id.* ¶ 27.

Here, as in *Whyte*, the district court has issued a parenting plan
that requires the parties’ three minor children to each make the
decision about which parent they will spend time with. The district
court has delegated this responsibility to children who were the ages of
6, 9, and 12 at the time of trial. Specifically, the court ordered:

“Father’s parenting time should be subject to the wishes of
the children so that if a child(ren) does not want to attend
Father’s parenting time, the child(ren) should not be
required to attend.” [Doc. 134, p. 3.]

The district court abused its discretion in issuing this parenting plan which is contrary to Montana law and improperly delegates parenting decisions to minor children. This Court should reverse the district court's parenting plan and order that parenting time take place with the children's Father even on days when the children's wishes lie elsewhere.

b. Parents have an obligation to attempt to overcome a child's resistance to visitation.

“A parent is not a powerless bystander in the decisions and actions of a child, and has an obligation to attempt to overcome the child's resistance to visitation.” *Marez v. Marshall*, 2014 MT 333, ¶ 34, 377 Mont. 304, 340 P.3d 520, internal quotes omitted. “A parent has a great deal of influence over a child's ideas and feelings, which carries with it an affirmative responsibility to nurture in the child a positive regard for his or her other parent.” *Id.*

Here, in an abuse of discretion, the parenting plan issued by the district court allows Jackie to ignore her affirmative responsibility as a parent to nurture a positive regard for Preston in the parties' children. It allows her to act as though she is a powerless bystander in the

decisions of the parties' children, as young as 6 years old. As written, the parenting plan places adult decisions squarely upon the shoulders of young children, which is neither appropriate nor in the children's best interest. The district court's parenting plan does not account for Jackie's obligation to attempt to overcome the children's resistance to visitation. The Court has determined appropriate parenting time, and it has determined an appropriate path for revisiting parenting time; those provisions should not be subject to review by minor children. This Court should issue an order reversing the district court's provision that the children can decide whether or not to participate in parenting time, and that Preston's parenting time should occur on a consistent and predictable basis.

II. The District Court erred by issuing a final parenting plan that requires the Father to pay unlimited and unspecified amounts above the child support and medical support calculations at the Mother's sole discretion.

a. The District Court erred by requiring discretionary payments beyond child support amounts.

Montana law provides two legal avenues for imposition of child support obligations: 1) district court child support determinations pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-204; or 2) administrative CSSD

child support determinations pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 40-5-203(1), -208(2), -225(1), and/or -272(1), as applicable.

Here, the district court has ordered Preston to reimburse Jackie for half of the children's extracurricular activities above and beyond the amounts he is paying in child support and medical support. The extracurricular activities and equipment are solely at Jackie's discretion, and there is no financial cap on the amount or cost of those. Jackie earns more than twice the amount Preston earns working full time. His child support and medical support obligations have been calculated pursuant to Montana statutory law. He can not afford to pay an additional, discretionary amount on top for extracurricular activities and equipment, nor does Montana law support such a financial imposition. This district court's order that Preston pay an additional amount for extracurricular expenses should be reversed.

b. The District Court erred in granting payment for expenses neither party requested.

“A district court may not grant relief not requested when the facts and issues necessary to support such relief have not been tried and proven at trial.” *In re Marriage of Toavs*, 2002 MT 230, ¶ 26, 311 Mont.

455, 56 P.3d 356, quoting *Matter of George Trust*, 253 Mont. 341, 345, 822 P.2d 1378, 1381 (1992).

At trial, neither party presented evidence or testimony regarding the cost of the children’s extracurricular activities and equipment or whether those costs should be borne by the parents separately from child support. When asked about the children’s extracurricular activities, Jackie indicated that the children were involved in “Quite a bit. We do soccer, and softball. Choir, track, drama. All of them have completed swimming lessons as well.” [Trans. p. 319, ln. 12-14.] Jackie also testified that the children were involved in “a busy season” with the children participating in activities “every day” and “multiple activities every week.” [Trans. p. 384, ln. 18; p. 385, ln. 4.]

Jackie did not request that the court order Preston to reimburse her for the extracurricular activities or equipment she chooses for the children, nor did she present evidence or testimony about those expenses. No witness presented any testimony about the subject. The district court erred in ordering Preston to pay for amounts not requested by either party, and the order that he reimburse Jackie for half of the children’s extracurricular activities and equipment should be

reversed. This Court should issue an order reversing the district court's order that Preston be financially responsible for amounts above and beyond child support and medical support obligations, and it should order that any amounts Preston paid pursuant to that order be reimbursed to him or credited against future legitimate financial obligations.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Honorable Court should issue an order reversing the provisions of the district court's parenting plan that place determination of parenting time upon the children's shoulders. It should also reverse the provisions of the parenting plan that require Preston to pay discretionary amounts above and beyond his child support and medical support obligations. Finally, this Court should issue an order that any amounts Preston for the discretionary extracurricular expenses above and beyond child support should be returned to him or credited against future financial obligations.