**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA**  
**Supreme Court Cause No. DA 25-0795**

---

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:

PRESTON BULL,

Petitioner and Appellant,

and

JACQUELINE BULL,

Respondent and Appellee.

**APPELLEE'S  
RESPONSE BRIEF**

---

On Appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County  
Before the Hon. Shane Vannatta,  
Cause No. DR-21-681

---

APPEARANCES:

For Appellant:

Misty D. Gaubatz  
A&M LAW  
319 W. Pine Street, Suite 2  
Missoula, MT 59802  
Misty@MyMontanaLawyer.com

*Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant*

For Appellee:

Brandi R. Ries  
Emily A. Lucas  
RIES LAW GROUP, P.C.  
P.O. Box 8364  
Missoula, MT 59807  
(406) 541-4141

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

## V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court acted within its discretion when it entered the Final Parenting Plan, pursuant to Montana Code Annotated § 40-4-212. In making its determination on parenting, the court took into consideration and made express findings on Preston’s mental health and his lack of therapeutic progress for the three years preceding trial despite the family’s engagement with multiple mental health providers (Doc. 159, pg. 6, ¶ d(i)), his abuse of alcohol including in the presence of the children (Doc. 159, pg. 10, ¶ f), his physical and emotional abuse of Jackie including abuse in the presence of the children (Doc. 159, pg. 8, ¶ e(i)), his physical and emotional abuse of the parties’ children (Doc. 159, pgs. 8-9, ¶ e(i)), and the children’s mental health (Doc. 159, pg. 7, ¶ d(iii)). The district court established a Final Parenting Plan that meets the children’s best interests and that balances Preston’s right to parent with the children’s right to safety. In entering the Final Parenting Plan, the court considered extensive testimony and evidence, including expert witness testimony by the parenting evaluator, two therapeutic visitation therapists, and two professionals who had provided counseling services to the

parties' three children.<sup>6</sup> Doc. 159, pg. 24, ¶ E. Every professional involved with the family testified about concerns with Preston exercising unsupervised parenting time with the children. Further, extensive testimony by professionals involved with the family was provided throughout the district court proceedings, including at trial, as well as written reports regarding the children's therapeutic needs as a result of the harm inflicted upon them by Preston and Preston's inability to complete the therapeutic work necessary for him to restore his parent-child relationship with the children. Doc. 159, pgs. 6-7, ¶ d(i); Doc. 47; Doc. 77; *Tr.*, pg. 54-64, 71-74, 180-182, 183-184, 192-194, 196-199, 254-261, 271-273, 278-283; Resp.'s Ex. A, B. The district court's Final Parenting Plan allows for Preston and the children to have supervised parenting time if the children (who have been direct and secondary victims of Preston's violence) desire to have such time with him and provides Preston with the opportunity to complete therapeutic work recommended for him in order for him to be a safe parent for the children and have expanded parenting time with them.

The district court ordered a final child support and medical support order for the support of the minor children pursuant to the Montana Child Support Guidelines.

---

<sup>6</sup> Although only the parenting evaluator, one therapeutic supervisor, and the children's current counselor testified at the final two-day trial in the district court case, the other professionals had testified at prior hearings before the district court. At the final trial, the court took judicial notice of the prior testimony of all professionals involved with the family. *Tr.*, pgs. 306-307, lines 18-3.

In addition, the court entered an order for the parties to equally share the children's extra-curricular expenses in accordance with Montana Code Annotated § 40-4-234.

## VI. ARGUMENT

### **A. THE DISTRICT COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION AND BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WHEN IT ENTERED THE FINAL PARENTING PLAN PURSUANT TO MONT. CODE ANN. § 40-4-212.**

- i. The record clearly establishes that the children experienced trauma perpetrated by their father and the court properly exercised its discretion to allow the children to decline to participate in future parenting time with him if they wish.**

The district court properly entered the *Final Parenting Plan* based upon the evidence presented. The court took into consideration a two-part parenting evaluation conducted by Dr. Donna Ryngala that spanned from 2022 to 2024 and her testimony. Resp.'s Ex. A. The court also considered and heavily relied on the reports and testimony of four other mental health professionals throughout these proceedings. All of the professionals who had been involved with the family recommended that Preston's parenting time should be restricted (Resp.'s Exs. A-B; Doc. 47; Doc. 77); that the children should be allowed agency in whether they participate in parenting time with their father based upon his infliction of physical and emotional harm on them directly and on their mother in their presence (Exs. A-B; *Tr.*, pg. 64); and that Preston had not participated in his own therapeutic process over the past four years to the point that allowed him to safely parent the children

without supervision and to repair the parent-child relationship. Doc. 159, pgs. 6-7, ¶ d(i); Doc. 47; Doc. 77; *Tr.*, pg. 54-64, 71-74, 180-182, 183-184, 192-194, 196-199, 254-261, 271-273, 278-283; Resp.'s Ex. A, B.

Montana Code Annotated § 40-4-212 requires that the district court take into specific factors when determining a parenting plan. One of the factors that the court is required to consider is the wishes of the children. Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-212(b). In order to evaluate this factor, the district court considered the testimony of five mental health professionals who had extensively worked with the parties' children and the court also conducted an in-chambers interview with the parties' oldest child. Doc. 159, pg. 4, ¶ a(iii). It is incongruous to require the district court to consider the children's wishes when formulating a parenting plan, yet simultaneously compel the court to disregard those same wishes when the children express a desire not to engage in parenting time with an abusive parent. This inconsistency is particularly stark in cases where the children have been exposed to physical and emotional harm inflicted by one parent against the other, have themselves been subjected to physical and emotional abuse by that parent, and where mental health professionals who have worked directly with the family have recommended that the children be afforded agency in determining whether and under what circumstances parenting time with the abusive parent should occur.

In addition to the child's wishes, the court is also required to take into consideration other relevant parenting factors, including, but not limited to: the mental and physical health of all individuals; physical abuse or threat of physical abuse by one parent against the other parent or child; and chemical dependency. *Id.* The court made thorough findings as to each of these relevant factors and others. Doc. 159, pgs. 4-11. Of specific importance and relevance to the children's wishes in this case, the court found that:

- 1) “[B]ased upon his lack of therapeutic progress throughout the last almost four years, it is clear that Preston has continued and [sic] significant unaddressed mental health needs. Despite Preston’s mental health being identified as an issue by every professional involved in this case, Preston has failed to do any meaningful work to address these issues and has stopped participating in therapy. Additionally, Dr. Ryngala testified that Preston’s mental health issues are difficult to treat and unlikely to go away even with treatment . . . .” Doc. 159, pgs. 6-7, ¶ d(i).
- 2) “The two oldest children have been diagnosed with Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and the youngest has been diagnosed with Adjustment Disorder. Jackie has appropriately addressed the children’s needs by providing them access to mental health services and by following the recommendations of the therapists and professionals involved with the children.” Doc. 159, pgs. 7-8, ¶ d(iii).
- 3) “Preston was physically and emotionally abusive to Jackie (including in the presence of the children) and the parties’ children throughout the parties’ marriage. Preston would often give Jackie and the children the ‘silent treatment’ as a method of emotional abuse, slam things around the home, yell, and call Jackie and the children (particularly the parties’ oldest child) derogatory names. He would frequently punch walls and throw objects in anger. Preston has grabbed Jackie and pushed her. He has told Jackie that ‘a bullet to the brain sounds like the answer.’ Preston cocked a firearm in the presence of Jackie and one of the children (while the other

children were in the residence) to threaten her and told Jackie ‘this is the end.’ He also threatened to commit suicide during this incident.<sup>7</sup> Preston has grabbed the parties’ oldest child by her shoulders and held her against the wall with her feet dangling because he was mad at her; he has thrown cups of water in the oldest child’s face; he would force the oldest child to stand in front of a mirror when she was crying and tell her to look at herself and how ugly she was; and he removed all of the toys from the oldest child’s bedroom, saying she did not deserve them.” Doc. 159, pgs. 8-9, ¶ e(i).<sup>8</sup> See Tr., pgs. 322-327, lines 21-2.

- 4) “Preston has a history of abusing alcohol, including in the presence of the children . . . Preston was diagnosed with Alcohol Use Disorder, Moderate. Despite this diagnosis, Preston testified that he continues to drink alcohol.” Doc. 159, pg. 10, ¶ f.

The district court is statutorily mandated to take into consideration the children’s wishes when determining a final parenting plan. In this case, the court considered the children’s wishes and their future wishes in the context of the other parenting factors relevant to this family’s circumstances, specifically that the children had been exposed to and were direct victims of their father’s family violence, which was exacerbated by his mental health issues and substance abuse. The parenting evaluator specifically recommended the parenting schedule that was

---

<sup>7</sup> During this incident, he stated that he was going to kill himself and had a gun in his truck. He tried to take the parties’ child from Jackie and asked her, “Do you want to come with me while Daddy kills himself?” *Tr.* pg. 320, lines 13-21.

<sup>8</sup> Jackie testified to other instances of Preston perpetrating violence on the children, including, but not limited to, Preston leaving the residence with a firearm and taking one of the children with him following an abusive altercation. When Jackie chased him and took back the child, he told Jackie, “If you ever take my child away from me, again, or embarrass me in front of the neighbors, I’ll come back for you.” *Tr.*, pg. 325, lines 1-8.

ordered by the court in the Final Parenting Plan—that Preston have supervised parenting time with the children every other week at Planet Kids to allow for the children to have time to process their emotions related to their parenting time with Preston with their individual counselor—and that the children should be allowed to refuse parenting time with Preston if they wished. Ex. A; *Tr.*, pg. 53, lines 1-25. In recommending that the children should be allowed to opt out of parenting time with Preston if they wished, the parenting evaluator specifically referenced that the parties' oldest child has insight into what harmed her in her relationship with her father, that she struggled with self-esteem issues, and that she is able to verbalize her traumatic memories related to Preston. *Tr.*, pg. 64.

In weighing the parenting factors set forth in Montana Code Annotated § 40-4-212 and considering the extensive evidence presented by the parties, witnesses and expert witnesses, the district court made the final determination that supervised parenting time with Preston is in the children's best interest and provided that the children should not be forced to attend parenting time with Preston if they did not wish. Doc. 134, pg. 3, lines 3-15. The court also ordered that Preston is required to follow all policies and procedures of Planet Kids (the supervised visitation facility tasked with supervising Preston's parenting time with the children). *Id.* at lines 16-18. One of the policies of Planet Kids is that they do not force children who are receiving services through their facility to attend parenting time with the parent

subject to supervised parenting. This policy is in line with what the district court ordered as being in the best interest of the children.

The purpose of having Preston exercise therapeutic supervision with the children, as was recommended by Ryngala in her original parenting evaluation completed in 2022, was to provide an opportunity for Preston to reunify and repair his relationship with the parties' children. To date, Preston has been unsuccessful in reunifying or repairing these relationships. Given the abuse that the children witnessed and experienced by their father (which included firearm violence), it is important for their recovery from trauma to be able to have a voice in how they experience parenting time with Preston, particularly since Preston has chosen not to participate in his own therapeutic process and refused to fully engage in the therapeutic supervised parenting process. To force the children—who have experienced trauma by their father—to have parenting time with him against their wishes would be contrary to their recovery. APA Working Group on Evaluation of Child Custody in Family Proceedings, *APA Guidelines for Child Custody Proceedings*, pg. 5 (Feb. 2022), <https://www.apa.org/about/policy/child-custody-evaluations.pdf> (Accessed Jan. 14, 2026).

In his opening brief, Preston relies on *Marriage of Whyte and Couvillion* to argue that the district court erred in issuing its Final Parenting Plan. 2012 MT 45, 364 Mont. 219, 272 P.3d 102. However, the facts of this case are easily

distinguishable from those in *Whyte and Couvillion*. First, in this case, the district court was tasked with establishing an initial parenting determination—not an amended parenting plan like in *Whyte and Couvillion*. Therefore, Montana Code Annotated § 40-4-219 (which has different requirements for consideration of a child’s wishes than Montana Code Annotated § 40-4-212) does not apply here like it applied in *Whyte and Couvillion*. Second—and most importantly—, there was no record of family violence in *Whyte and Couvillion* like there is in this case. In *Whyte and Couvillion*, the district court considered facts like the child’s age and the child’s ability to be successful in school in determining that the child’s wishes were relevant to the parenting schedule for future years. *Whyte and Couvillion*, ¶ 19. Notably, the district court in *Whyte and Couvillion* found that both parents were fit and proper. *Id.* By contrast, the court in this case entered findings based on extensive evidence of Preston’s unaddressed and ongoing mental health issues, his alcohol abuse, and the violence he perpetrated on his family—including his children—as well as the resulting mental health needs of the children.

Preston had approximately four years to work through a therapeutic supervision process with the children and two different therapeutic supervisors. The parenting evaluator and the therapeutic supervisors refused to force the children to participate in the therapeutic supervision process against their will. Resp.’s Exs. A-B, Doc. 94. The second therapeutic supervisor ultimately terminated therapeutic

supervision services as Preston told the supervisor he no longer wanted to do therapeutic supervision and because the supervisor determined he was unable to successfully complete the therapeutic supervision process due to lack of insight into his behavior and his difficulty understanding the children's perspective and accepting it. *Tr.*, pgs. 183-184, lines 1-8.

District courts are required to establish a parenting plan that is in the best interest of the children. The district court had knowledge regarding this family in 2021 and relied heavily on the mental health experts that were appointed by the court (a parenting evaluator and two therapeutic supervisors) in addition to the children's mental health counselors in meeting its statutorily mandated requirement. The court entered a parenting plan that allows for Preston to have consistent parenting time with the children in a safe setting subject to the children's desire to attend parenting time with him, while also giving Preston the ability to address his own mental health needs and gain better understanding of the children's experiences and how to repair the parent-child relationship if he chooses. In doing so, the court balanced Preston's right to parent with the children's right to safety.<sup>9</sup> The district court did not abuse its discretion in entering the final parenting plan.

---

<sup>9</sup> The Montana legislature has found "that a parent's constitutionally protected interest in the parental control of a child should yield to the best interests of the child when the parent's conduct is contrary to the child-parent relationship." Mont. Code Ann. 40-4-227(2)(b). The court appropriately balanced these interests, taking into

- ii. The district court provided Preston with an avenue to obtain mental health treatment to be able to repair the parent-child relationship and to potentially increase his parenting time.**

The Final Parenting Plan provides for Preston’s parenting time to be re-assessed, “if he were to resume **his** therapeutic work (including individual therapy, parenting consultation and parent coaching) and the professionals involved with the family determine that Father has made therapeutic progress based upon their professional opinions. A re-evaluation should not occur unless the professional(s) indicate that Father has made significant change.” Doc. 134, pg. 5, ¶ c. [Emphasis added].

In his opening brief, Preston complains that the children have control over this provision if they choose not to participate in his parenting time. However, the court, by including this provision in the Final Parenting Plan, gave Preston autonomy to determine his own mental health progress. At the time of trial, and continuing for over a year prior to trial, Preston had chosen not to participate in any individual therapy, despite the therapeutic supervisor and the parenting evaluator both having recommended that he obtain those services. Resp’s Ex. A, pg. 11; Ex. B. Ultimately,

---

consideration the lengthy record that was compiled over the four years this case was pending before it, and entered a Final Parenting Plan accordingly.

it was Preston's own choice to not engage in his mental health care that impacted his ability to progress in therapeutic services with the children.<sup>10</sup> Resp's Exs. A-B.

The court provided Preston with the ability to seek his own mental health services as well as parenting skills development separate from his time with the parties' children. The children are not responsible for Preston's mental health; further, the children's mental health should not have to suffer because of Preston's refusal to engage in his own therapy. It is ultimately Preston's choice whether or not to utilize the services of a mental health professional to improve his own mental health as well as to follow the tools and recommendations provided to him by mental health professionals to repair the relationship he has with the parties' children. The court did not abuse its discretion in entering a parenting plan that provides for Preston's parenting time to be re-assessed if he seeks mental health services and mental health professionals determine that he has made therapeutic progress.

**iii. There is no evidence that Jackie has done anything contrary to the children's relationship with their father.**

---

<sup>10</sup> The children's counselor testified that the oldest daughter's reluctance to resume attending parenting time with Preston was in part based on the other children's reports about Preston's comments and behaviors during his parenting time with the other children. *Tr.*, pg. 282. If Preston had utilized the therapeutic services that had been recommended to him since 2022 by the court-appointed mental health professionals and had appropriately applied those skills in his parenting sessions with the two younger children, it is possible (if not likely) that the oldest child would have changed her position on attending parenting time. However, that was not the case.

Jackie has acted in the best interests of the parties' children by following the advice of the professionals involved with the family. She has ensured that the children obtained and continue to obtain the therapeutic services they need to recover from the trauma they experienced due to Preston's family violence, untreated mental health needs and substance abuse. She has also followed the court's direction and the professional's recommendations regarding Preston's parenting time with the children. Preston failed to cite to any evidence on the record that would support his position that Jackie does anything to ignore her "affirmative responsibility" to nurture the children's relationship with Preston.

In fact, the record establishes that Jackie has done what she needs to do to help the children repair their relationship with Preston. For example, the children's therapist testified that Jackie supports the oldest child's relationship with Preston and that she's followed the recommendation of the professionals in that "[s]he's really remained encouraging for the girls to go, but still not pushy if that makes sense. Not forceful." *Tr.*, pgs. 255-256, lines 18-3. The parenting evaluator also testified that she believed "Jackie was really hopeful that intervention would help the reunification process." *Tr.*, pg. 39, lines 18-20.

It is Preston's obligation to take the steps and obtain the treatment necessary for him to be a safe parent for the parties' children. The court has provided Preston with the opportunity to parent the children in a safe environment and to change his

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